
 
 
 
September 27, 2023 
 
Rent Stabiliza�on Staff 
City of Saint Paul 
310 City Hall 
15 West Kellogg Boulevard 
Saint Paul, MN 55102-1615 
 
Re: Rent Stabiliza�on Determina�on appeal for property at 1822 Grand Ave, Units 1-4 
 
Dear Staff, 
 
In response to the items requested of us at the September 14, 2023 Legisla�ve Hearing please 
see the atached informa�on.   
 

1. Historical rent values, ideally going back as far as possible. 
 

a. Atached to this leter are the original leases that we received from the seller at 
closing.   

b. It is important to note that the seller had long been planning to demolish this 
building to make way for a mixed-use development that would serve as their new 
office and showroom space along with addi�onal commercial space for other 
retail tenants and apartments above.  This strategy resulted in litle to no 
investment into building improvements and rent increases on the apartments for 
the past several years.  
 

2. Comparable expenses from similar buildings you own in the area.  
 
We have summarized the trends in opera�ng expenses for several buildings that we own 
in the neighborhood including 1168 Selby, 169 Victoria and 1342 Thomas.  Below is a 
summary of the average annual percentage increase in opera�ng expenses for these 
three proper�es between 2020 and 2022.  

• 1168 Selby – 7.71% 
• 169 Victoria – 20.19%  
• 1342 Thomas – 22.58%  *purchased in 2020 

A more detailed breakdown of the historic opera�ng expenses for these comparable 
proper�es are atached to this leter. 
 

3. A breakdown of the poten�al capital improvements which may include the following: 
Improvements which are necessary for the property to operate safely; improvements 



which are dependent of achievable levels of rent; Improvements which may be due to 
deferred maintenance.   
 
The below chart shows the different improvements to be made to operate the property 
safely, to achieve different levels of rent and those improvements which may be due to 
deferred maintenance.  Please note that the property recently passed its fire cer�ficate 
of inspec�on which is why we determine it to be safe in its current condi�on.  
Addi�onally, we can categorize most of the suggested improvements as deferred 
maintenance as the seller was planning to demolish the property for commercial re-use 
and therefore the building has not had any recent improvement made.   
 

 
 
We feel strongly that the rents charged are significantly below market rents for similar units in 
similar buildings, preven�ng the landlord from achieving reasonable returns. We are currently 
ren�ng one-bedroom units without any major updates at 1962 Grand Avenue for $1,150.  
Similar to 1820 Grand, 1962 Grand also offers these one-bedroom units with parking.  A recent 
search of available proper�es in this neighborhood shows several available op�ons suppor�ng 
the fact that the current rents at 1820 are significantly below market rents.  Below is a summary 
of op�ons currently available on the market, however, these op�ons do not include parking. 
 

• 1280 Grand Avenue – one-bedroom apartment with an asking rent of $1,108 
(https://www.zillow.com/b/grand-heritage-apartments-saint-paul-mn-C72LRL/) 

• 1576 Portland Avenue – one-bedroom apartment with an asking rent of $1,095 
(https://www.zillow.com/b/1576-portland-avenue-saint-paul-mn-9HWyn2/) 

• 1703 Ashland Avenue – one-bedroom apartment with an asking rent of $1,150 
(https://www.zillow.com/b/ashland-%26-laurel-apartments-saint-paul-mn-5XrDmt/) 

 
 
 

https://www.zillow.com/b/grand-heritage-apartments-saint-paul-mn-C72LRL/
https://www.zillow.com/b/1576-portland-avenue-saint-paul-mn-9HWyn2/
https://www.zillow.com/b/ashland-%26-laurel-apartments-saint-paul-mn-5XrDmt/


Furthermore, the historical opera�ng expenses for 1820 Grand Avenue show that the average 
annual opera�ng expense for the property between 2020 and 2022 was $72,163.11 which is 
ar�ficially low because of the seller’s plan to redevelop the property. The square footage of the 
residen�al space is 2,489 sf, making up 38.9% of the above-ground square footage of the 
building.  Alloca�ng 38.9% of the opera�ng expenses, mortgage payment and annual capital 
improvement budget results in a significant annual loss. 
 

 
 
 

Thank you for working through this process with us. It was our understanding when we made 
the decision to purchase the building that this is a reasonable ordinance, and that we would 
work with staff on coming to solu�ons. Forcing us to use rental rates from 20 – 30 ago is not 
reasonable or workable for us. We made the decision to con�nue to invest in Saint Paul despite 
the uncertainty, a �me / resource consuming process, and falling demand / values this 
ordinance has brought (which many investors are now staying away), hopefully we are not 
penalized by taking that risk and leap of faith.  It is important to us that we con�nue to see our 
city thrive and grow, but our building stock age.  1820 Grand Avenue is a classic Saint Paul, 
mixed-use building on a prominent corner of one of Saint Paul’s most atrac�ve streets. Some of 
the relevant sec�ons of the ordinance appear to be: 
 

- Adjustments of Base Year – (a) ii Maintenance and repair expenditures were 
excep�onally low causing inadequate or significant deteriora�on in the quality of 
services provided. 

- (b) i. The gross income during the Base Year was lower than it might have been because 
some residents were charged reduced rent AND iv other excep�onal circumstances (i.e. 
rents were low because the previous owner wanted flexibility to demolish the building 
and was also not maintaining the building appropriately during that �me. The new 
development didn’t happen because of market condi�ons including rent control 
enactment.  

- Calcula�ons of Net Opera�ng Income: (d) 8. (b) Rent Increase Limit: There is no limit to 
annual adjustments if the Landlord demonstrates that the increase is necessary for a 
reasonable return.  And (d) 9 Right to Reasonable Return: No provision of this regula�on 
shall be applied so as to prohibit the Department of Legisla�on Hearing Officer from 
gran�ng an individual Rent adjustment that is demonstrated by the Landlord to be 
necessary to meet the requirements of this ordinance and the Landlord’s right to 
reasonable return requirements.    



 
Once again, we are open to a staggered rent increase schedule over a two to 12-month period 
and/or working with tenants to par�cipate in caretaking responsibili�es at the property.  As 
evidenced by the data above, the current rents are significantly below market rents and restrict 
the property owner from achieving a reasonable return while also prohibi�ng our ability to 
make improvements to the building that are necessary to align this building with the quality of 
housing that the city aims to achieve.   
 
Respec�ully, 
 
 
Joe Hughes  


